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I Dear General Counsel, 

Please find enclosed a Complaint against the Columbus Metropolitan Club, 
the Steve Stivers for Congress Campaign, and the Rick Neal for Congress 
Campaign. Their addresses are included on pages 2 and 3 of the Complaint. 

Complainant is the Libertarian Party of Ohio, P.O. Box 29193, Columbus, 
Ohio 43229. I represent the Complainant. I can be reached at the letterhead 
address, or at mbrovvn@laW.Gapilal.edii. or '' • n 

Please let me know if I can be of assistance. 

Sincerely yours. 

fark R. Brown 
Attorney for Complainant, Libertarian 
Party of Ohio 
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COMPLAINT 

y 1. As explained more fully below, the Columbus Metropolitan Club (CMC), on October 19, 
^ 2018 violated the Federal Election Campaign Act (FECA), 2 U.S.C. § 441b(ai by staging and 

sponsoring a debate between Steve Stivers, the Republican Party candidate for Ohio's ISth 
congressional district, and Rick Neal, the Democratic candidate for Ohio's ISth congressional 
district, without using pre-existing objective criteria to select the two participants. See 
Attachment 1. CMC's debate accordingly constituted illegal corporate campaign contributions to 
both of those campaigns. The Steve Stivers for Congress ("Stivers campaign") and Rick Neal for 
Congress ('Tvleal campaign") campaigns ate likewise liable for accepting these corporate 
campaign contributions with full knowledge that they were being made in violation, of the 
Federal Election Campaign Act (FECA), 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a). See 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a). 

2. As explained more fully below, CMC violated the FECA and its implementing 
regulations by inviting, authorizing and allowing both Stivers and Neal to debate before an 
audience that included the general public without notifying.or inviting Johnathan Miller, the 
Libertarian Party candidate, who was fiilly qualified under Ohio law to run for the ISth district 
congressional seat in Ohio and who will appear as the Libertarian Party candidate for that office 
on Ohio's November 6, 2018 general election ballot. The debate was further made available to 
the general public by a local television station, NBC4 WCMH-TV, which with CMC's assistance 
and permission posted the full debate on its web page and made it freely available to the public. 
See NBC4i.com (https://www.nbc4i.com/news/the-spectrum/full-video-rep-steve-stivers-
opponent-rick-neal-face-off-in-15th-congressional-district-debate/l 540016640) (last visited 
October 23, 2018). See generally 11 C.F.R. § 114.4(c) (describing speech corporations may 
distribute to the general public); 11 C.F.R. §§ 114.3(c)(2) and 114.4(b)(1) (describing 
permissible campaign-related speech delivered to restricted audiences). See also 11 C.F.R. § 
114.4(e) (applying 11 C.F.R. § 114.4(b)'s limitations to non-profit membership organizations). 

3. As explained more fully below, CMC's posting of the debate on the NBC4 WCMH-TV 
web page separately and independently violates the FECA, 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a), because it 
constitutes an additional "thing of value" donated to the Stivers campaign and the Neal 
campaign. See FEC Advisory Opinion 1996-11 (stating that non-profit membership corporation 



cannot invite public to hear campaign-related speeches by office-holders or their representatives 
at a corporation-sponsored meeting). 

4. As explained more flilly below, the Stivers campaign and the Neal campaign are in 
violation of the FECA, 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a), because they knowingly accepted and/or continued to 
accept the aforementioned corporate contributions after having been informed by the 
Complainant that the debate was being staged without proper pre-existing objective criteria and 
therefore violated federal campaign finance laws. 

5. Complainant, the Libertarian Party of Ohio, has been, and continues to be, injured by 
CMC's illegal campaign contributions to the Stivers and Neal campaigns because CMC's actions 
are part of a pattern of CMC's rewarding the two major political parties with corporate campaign 
contributions through illegal candidate debates. CMC in the past has limited its debates to 
candidates and representatives of the two major parties. See, e.g.. In re Columbus Metropolitan 
Club, MUR 6590 (April 20, 2013) (exercising prosecutorial discretion not to pursue CMC's 
violation). CMC's actions skew the political process in Ohio, benefit the two major political 
parties and their candidates at the expense of emerging ballot-qualified parties in Ohio— 
including the Libertarian Party of Ohio—and perpetuate the public illusion of a "two-party 
system" in Ohio, in which only two political parties are legitimate contenders. 

COMPLAINANT 

6. The undersigned, Harold D. Thomas, is the chair of the Libertarian Party of Ohio and is 
ftilly authorized to act on its behalf in this proceeding. The Libertarian Party of Ohio is affiliated 
with the Libertarian National Conunittee and is a fully qualified political party in the State of 
Ohio that routinely runs candidates for local, state, and federal office. Its mailing address is: 
Libertarian Party of Ohio, P.O. Box 29193, Columbus, Ohio 43229. 

RESPONDENTS 

7. Columbus Metropolitan Club (CMC) is a non-profit corporation, see Ohio Secretary of 
State, Business Search (https://busines.ssearch,sos.state.oh.us/#busD.ialog) (last visited. October 
23, 2018) (reporting that CMC is a non-profit corporation),' organized under the laws of Ohio.^ 
Its mailing address is: Columbus Metropolitan Club, c/o Jane Ann Scott, 100 E. Broad 
Street, Suite 100, Columbus, OH 43215. 

' According to prior filings with the Commission, CMC is a SO I (c)(3) corporation within the meaning of the Internal 
Revenue Code. See MUR 5642; MUR 61.11 (describing CMC as 501(cX3) corporation). 

^ CMC's charter on file with the Ohio Secretary of State does not reveal whether it is a non-profit membership 
corporation within the meaning of the federal election laws. Assuming that CMC is a non-profit membership 
corporation. Complainant's charges remain the same. The requirements of, and prohibitions on, non-profit 
membership corporations and other non-profit corporations are essentially the same for purposes of this Complaint. 
Compare II C.F.R §§ 114.3(c) & 114.4(b) (describing requirements for corporations) with 11 C.F.R. § 
114.4(eXdescribing requirements for membership corporations). Neither type of corporation is allowed to fecilitate 
the campaign-related speech of candidates and/or parties by staging public debates and further distributing those 
debates to the general public, unless they use pre-existing objective criteria to select the participating candidates. 
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8. Steve Stivers for Congress is registered with the Federal Election Commission as the 
campaign for Steve Stivers, who is running as the Republican candidate for Ohio's iSth 
congressional district during the 2018 general election. The campaign's registered address is: 
Steve Stivers for Congress, 4679 Winterset Drive, Columbus, OH 43220. 

9. Rick Neal for Congress is registered with the Federal Election Commission as the 
campaign for Rick Neal, who is running as the Democratic candidate for Ohio's 15th 
congressional district during the 2018 general election. The campaign's registered address is: 
Rick Neal for Congress, 545 £. Town Street, Columbus, OH 43215. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

10. Rick Neal and Steve Stivers were both invited before September 25,2018 by the CMC to 
debate each other live on October 19, 2018. The debate was scheduled for 12 Noon on that day, 
would last until 1:15 PM, included lunch for the members of the audience, and was paid for by 
the CMC. Attachment A. 

11. The October 19, 2018 debate between Neal and Stivers was open to the public and 
included various charges for admission. See Attachment A. 

12. CMC did not notify nor invite the Libertarian Party's candidate, Jonathan Miller, for 
Ohio's 15th congressional district. 

13. As late as October 8, 2018, CMC continued to publicize the criterion for inclusion in the 
October 19,2018 on its official web page as being a 5% polling formula: 

While the Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free speech and inclusion our debate 
policy requires debate participants to receive at least 5% of the projected vote in any 
recognized and widely published poll. (Examples include Marist, Quinnipiac, and Pew.) 
At this time, no other candidates have provided infonnation that would qualify them to 
participate in CMC's debate. 

See Attachment A. 

14. As early as September 25, 2018, CMC publicized on its official Facebook page that a 
candidate's inclusion in its October 19, 2018 debate r^uired that candidate's having polled at 
least 5% in a poll conducted by a widely published polling organization: 

While the Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free speech and inclusion our debate 
policy requires debate participants to receive at least 5% of the projected vote m any 
recognized and widely published poll. Examples include Marist, Quinnipiac, and Pew. 

See Attachment B. 

15. On September 25, 2018, CMC responded to a question about Jonathan Miller's exclusion 
of the debate raised by Harold Thomas, Chair of the Libertarian Party of Ohio by again stating 
that it had employed a 5% polling formula: 



Harold Thomas: Why are you excluding Libertarian Johnathan Miller? Keep in mind 
that by excluding him, the Columbus Metropolitan Club may be in violation of Ohio 
campaign finance law and section SOI (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code for making an 
in-kind contribution to the accepted candidates. 

Columbus Metropolitan Club: Thank you for your inquiry. While the Columbus 
Metropolitan Club champions free speech and inclusion our debate policy requires debate 
participants to receive at least 5% of the projected vote in any recognized and widely 
published poll. Examples include Marist, Quinnipiac, and Pew. 

See Attachment B. 

16. At the time the invitations were extended to Stivers and Neal ~ sometime before 
September 2S, 2018 ~ no polling of voters' interest in the election for Ohio's 15th congressional 
district of any sort had been done by any widely published polling organizations; consequently, 
neither Stivers nor Neal could have satisfied this published criterion when they were invited. 

17. Because no polling of voters' interest in the election for Ohio's ISth congressional district 
had been performed when Neal and Stivers were invited, it was impossible for them or anyone 
else, including the Libertarian Party candidate, Miller, to have met this published criterion. 

18. To date, no polling of voters' interest in the election for Ohio's ISth congressional district 
has been performed by any widely published polling organization; thus, to this day it remains 
impossible for any candidate to meet or have met the CMC's published criterion. 

19. On October 8, 2018, after being contacted by Mark Brown, legal coutisel for the 
Libertarian Party of Ohio, who pointed out that it was impossible for anyone ~ including Neal 
and Stivers ~ to have satisfied the CMC's published criterion because no polling had been 
conducted, Andrew Campbell, Vice President for Programming at CMC, sent to Mr. Brown in an 
e-mail what he claimed was the true pre-existing objective criteria that had been employed by 
CMC to select Stivers and Neal: 

Columbus Metropolitau Club 
Geueral Election Debate Candidate Qualification Criterion 2018 

1. Candidate must be on the ballot as of the date of the Debate AND 

2. Must meet all other minimum criteria under the Campaign Finance Act ("the Act") 
AND 

a. Must have raised and spent $100,000 in compliance with the Act as reflected in the last 
filing statement prior to the Debate OR 



b. Must have achieved at least 5% in any published Poll prior to the Debate. In order to 
be used in this section the poll must: 

i. Have a margin of 4.5% or less 

ii. Include all of the candidates on the ballot (for the election for which the poll is 
conducted) at the same time the poll is taken. 

If no such poll exists, then section (b) may not be used for Debate eligibility for any 
candidate and section (a) will be used to determine Debate eligibility for all candidates on 
the ballot for the election for which the Debate is being conducted. 

See Attachment C, 

20. Mr. Campbell then forwarded to Mr. Brown by e-mail the Federal Election Commission 
reports for the Stivers campaign and the Neal campaign that he had downloaded that day, 
October 8, 2018, and explained that because they had raised and spent more than the stated 
criterion they were invited. See Attachment C. 

21. Mr. Campbell also explained in this e-mail to Mr. Brown that it was "impossible" for the 
Libertarian Party's candidate to satisfy this standard: "Based on our stated criteria, without any 
EEC campaign finance filing, or record of same, or listing it, would be impossible for us to have 
considered him as a debate participant at any time past or present." Id. 

22. In response to Mr. Brown's question of whether Mr. Campbell had any documentary 
evidence demonstrating that he or CMC actually used this unpublished formula to select Stivers 
and Neal, while excluding Miller, from the debate, Mr. Campbell refused to do so, stating in a 
follow-up e-mail: "it seems that you are requesting that I prove my innocence. I am not inclined 
to do that at this time." Id. 

23. On October 10, 2018, Oliver B. Hall, special counsel to the Libertarian National 
Committee, e-mailed to CMC, the Neal campaign, and the Stivers campaign, notification that 
their planned October 19, 2018 was likely in violation of federal campaign finance laws. Mr. 
Hall concluded by stating: "If any of you have contemporaneous documentation demonstrating 
that the debate was staged in compliance with the aforementioned requirements, we ask that you 
provide them immediately." See Attachment D. 

24. Neither the Neal campaign nor Stivers campaign responded to Mr. Hall's letter dated 
October 10,2018. 

25. On October 10, 2018, Jane Scott, President and CEO of CMC, responded to Mr. Hall's 
letter in an e-mail to Mr. Brown by referring to the October 8, 2018 criterion announced by Mr. 
Campbell: "If your candidate can meet the conditions detailed in our CMC Debate 
Qualifications, please communicate this with Andrew Campbell and he will include your 
candidate in the debate." See Attachment E. 



26. Mr. Brown responded to Ms. Scott by again asking for any documentary evidence 
suggesting that this October 8,2018 criteria existed when Neal and Stivers were selected: "If you 
have any documentation at all proving that your Club used this formula when it invited Neal and 
Stivers please send it to me or Mr. Hall." Id. 

27. On October 22, 2018, Mr. Campbell responded to Mr. Hall about his letter and request 
for documentation surrounding CMC's newly announced October 8,2018 criteria by stating in an 
e-mail that the criteria he employed included the subjective criterion of whether candidates were 
"running an active campaign": 

CMC election season programming was discussed at the "first Friday" June, August and 
September program committee meetings. On September 7 it was decided that CMC 
should pursue a ISth Congressional District debate along with several other 
congressional and statewide issues and races. 

At that time, 1 do the following; 1. Refer to the Ohio Secretary of State website to review 
the official ballot for each CMC desired forum, issue or race. 2. Specific to the ISth 
District, identify all candidates on the ballot. 3. Research the candidates, obtain contact 
information and determine if we can include them in the conversation based on our 
criteria. 4. Specific to Libertarian candidate Johnathon Miller [sic]; very limited 
information available. His website is the sole source of reference, where he has 
incorrectly identified U.S. Senator Sherrod Brown as his congressman. No news 
coverage, no campaign appearances, and most importantly, no polling or campaign. 
finance reporting is available. S. Based the information available, or lack thereof this 
candidate is not running an active campaign. 6. No contact information for the candidate 
is available. 7. Move on to the next issue or race. 

See Attachment F. 

28. Contrary to Mr. Campbell's assertion, Johnathan Miller was running an active campaign 
and had publicly available contact information on September 7, 2018. See, e.g., Johnathan 
Miller for Congress 2018 (http://csjmiller.wixsite.com/iamrunning4congress) (last visited Oct. 
25,2018). 

29. Contrary to Mr. Campbell's assertion, Johnathan Miller's campaign was organized and 
registered with the Commission as an active campaign for Congress on July 20, 2018. See 
Federal Election Commission, Statement of Organization. FEC Form 1 
(http://docquery.fec.gOv/cgi-bin/forms/C00639831/1251338/) (last visited Oct. 25,2018). 

30. Mr. Campbell further responded on October 22, 2018 to Mr. Hall's letter and request for 
supporting documentation for CMC's newly announced criteria by stating in an e-mail to Mr. 
Hall: 

http://csjmiller.wixsite.com/iamrunning4congress
http://docquery.fec.gOv/cgi-bin/forms/C00639831/1251338/


The [October 8,] 2018 criteria were carried over from 2017. Hie dale adopted, actually 
"revised" for 2018, would have been on or around Monday August 6th. The dates 15th 
District candidate research was conducted was September 7 through September 20. The 
dates this specific criterion was used to qualify, and later invite the ISth District 
candidates, was over the period between September 10 through October 5. 

See Attachment F. 

31. Mr. Campbell included with this e-mail to Mr. Hall a separate Word document as an 
attachment, see Attachment G, stating the same criteria that had been delivered in the text of an 
e-mail to Mr. Brown on October 8, 2018 and intended to evidence that this policy had been in 
place since 2017 and had been "revised" for use in 2018; however, technical inspection of the 
Word document supplied by Mr. Campbell revealed that it had been first created not in 2017 but 
on October 8,2018. See Attachment H. 

32. Mr. Campbell thereafter on October 24, 2018 in a subsequent e-mail to Mr. Hall admitted 
that the Word document he had sent to Hall with the criteria Campbell claimed to have used had 
in fact been created on October 8,2018, as was the prior e-mail containing these criteria that was 
sent to Mr. Brown: "indeed the doc sent to Brown was created on October 8, content cut and 
paste from program committee agenda material ... some of which dates back to 2008." See 
Attachment F. Mr. Campbell concluded his October 24, 2018 to Mr. Hall by stating that 
"counsel advises me to not communicate with you or Mr. Brown further." Id. 

33. CMC's October 19,2018 exclusive debate between Neal and Stivers was held as planned, 
was open to the general public, and was further made available to the general public free of 
charge by a local television station, NBC4 WCMH-TV, which posted the full debate on its web 
page and made it freely available to the public. See NBC4i.com 
(https://www.nbc4i.com/news/the-spectrum/full-video-rep-steve-stivers-opponent-rick-neal-face-
off-in-15th-congressional-district-debate/1540016640) (last visited October 23,2018). 

LEGAL ANALYSIS 

34. Regulations passed by the Federal Election Commission (FEC) allow corporations, 
including non-profitSi to invite candidates arid their representatives to speak on cariipaign-related 
matters to the organizations' "restricted class" memberships. See 11 C.F.R. § 114.3(c)(2),^ See 
FEC Advisory Opinion 1996-11. 

35. Corporations, non-profits, and incorporated membership organizations, under certain 
circumstances, are likewise authorized to invite candidates and their representatives "to address 
or meet members and employees of the organization, and their families, on the organization's 
premises or at a meeting, convention or other function of the organization." 11 C.F.R. § 114.4(e). 

'"Restricted class" membership includes members, their immediate families, and executive/administrative personnel 
(and their families). It excludes unsalaried employees and the general public. Section 114.3(c)(2) also allows 
incidental guests and members of the press to attend. 
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See also 11 C.F.R. § 114.4(b)(1). Candidates may under these circumstances engage in 
campaign-related speech. See FEC Advisory Opinion 1996-11. 

36. Non-profit corporations, including incorporated membership organizations, may lawfully 
sponsor, hold and broadcast candidates' debates (which necessarily include campaign-related 
speech) and make these debates open to the general public, see. e.g.. 11 C.F.R. § 114(f), so long 
as the corporations use publicly-stated, pre-existing, objective criteria to select the candidates to 
be included in the debates. 

37. Outside a properly staged debate format, corporations, non-profits, and incorporated 
membership corporations are prohibited by FEC regulations from inviting or allowing the 
general public to attend candidates' presentations that include campaign-related speech that they 
(that is, the corporations, non-profits, and incorporated membership organizations) have 
sponsored, authorized, organized, or otherwise allowed. See FEC Advisory Opinion 1996-11; 11 
C.F.R. § 114.4(b)(1); 11 C.F.R. § 114.4(e); 11 C.F.R. § 114.3(c)(2). 

38. The prohibition described in f 37 extends to corporations', non-profits' and incorporated 
J membership organizations' inviting candidates' and parties' agents and representatives, or any 

other persons, to deliver campaign-related speech, to a public audience at an event sponsored or 
promoted by corporations, non-profits and incorporated membership organizations. See FEC 
Advisory Opinion 1996-11. 

39. Interpreting the Commission's regulations allowing non-profit corporations to stage 
debates, federal courts have ruled that these "[sjtaging organizations must be able to show- that 
their obiecfive criteria were tised to pick the, participants, and that the criteria were not designed 
to result in the selection of certain pre-chosen participants." Buchanan v. Federal Election 
Commission. 112 F. Supp.2d 58,74 (D.D.C. 2000) (quoting FEC statement) (emphasis added). 

40. In order to come within the protection of this exception, the burden of proof is on the 
debate staging organizations to actually demonstrate that they employed pre-existing objective 
criteria and actually used them to select the participating candidates. See La Botz v. Federal 
Election Commission, 889 F. Supp.2d 51 (D.D.C. 2012). 

41. Staging organizations may not employ pre-existing objective criteria that minor-party 
candidates cannot reasonably meet. The court in Buchanan v. Federal Election Commission. 112 
F. Supp. 2d at 74, stated that "these statements by the regulation's drafters strongly suggest that 
the objectivity requirement precludes debate sponsors from selecting a level of support so high 
that only the Democratic and Republican nominees could reasonably achieve it." 

42. Staging organizations are absolutely precluded from employing pre-existing objective 
criteria that are impossible for non-major-party candidates to meet. See La Botz v. Federal 
Election Commission, 889 F. Supp.2d 51 (D.D.C. 2012). 

43. Staging organizations are absolutely precluded from simply selecting major-party 
candidates as the participants in debates. See La Botz, 889 F. Supp.2d at 62 ("FEC. regulations 
•forbid major party nominaticin to be the-sole criterion emplo.ved to select debate participants." 
(emphasis added); Buchanan v. Federal Election Commission. 112 F. Supp.2d 58, 74 (D.D.C. 
2000) (quoting FEC statement). 
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44. Post-hoc rationalizations for debate participant selection are impermissible; 
"contemporaneous evidence" is required to prove that the staging organization employed pre
existing objective criteria. In La Botz the court rejected a belated and unsubstantiated claim that 
the staging organization had used permissible criteria different from that it had previously 
advertised: "such affidavits raise the risk that they will merely provide a vehicle for a party's post 
hoc rationalizations, this sole affidavit highlights the absence of arty contemporaneous evidence 
suggesting that ONO employed pre-established selection criteria." Id. at 62 (emphasis added). 

45. The published criterion employed by CMC, that is, 5% polling in any "widely recognized 
poll," was by Mr. Campbell's own admission not used to select the participants in CMC's 
October 19, 2018 debate. It was not used because it could not be used; no polling of this nature 
had been conducted. 

46. Stivers and Neal were therefore selected, and Miller excluded, under some other 
unpublished, secret criteria. 

47. CMC's post-hoc explanation that it employed a different set of criterion that alternatively 
focused on candidates' fundraising to select the participants in its October 19, 2018 debate is not 
supported by any form of documentation. The only documents that Mr. Campbell or anyone else 
affiliated with CMC or the Stivers and Neal campaigns produced were an e-mail dated October 
8, 2018 to Complainant's attomey and a Word document that was created on October 8, 2018, 
both of which were specific responses to Complainant's attorney's informing Mr. Andrew 
Campbell that no polling for any candidates had been conducted and that CMC's published 
criterion was therefore impossible to meet. These October 8, 2018 documents, which included 

. the same new criteria, conveniently responded to Complainant's attorney's observation that no 
polling had been conducted by stating that "Ifhb siich. poll exists, then section (b) may not be 
used for Debate eligibility for any candidate and section (a) will be used to determine Debate 
eligibility for all candidates on the ballot for the election for which the Debate is being 
conducted." See Attachments C & G (emphasis added). 

48. Post-hoc explanations, especially those that were not previously made available to all 
candidates before the debate was announced, are especially suspect under federal campaign 
finance laws. This is doubly so when they contradict previously published criteria that were 
made available to all candidates. In La Botz v. Federal Election Commission, 889 F. Supp.2d 51, 
62 (D.D.C. 2012), which reversed the Commission's dismissal of a complaint against a debate 
staging organization, the court explained: 

while EEC regulations do not specifically require debate staging organizations to reduce 
their criteria to writing, it is strongly encouraged: 

Although the new rules do not require staging organizations to do so, those 
staging debates would be well advised to reduce their objective criteria to writing 
and to make the criteria available to all candidates before the debate. This will 
enable staging organizations to show how they decided which candidates to invite 
to the debate. Staging organizations must be able to show that their objective 
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criteria were used to pick the participants, and that the criteria were not designed 
to result in the selection of certain pre-chosen participants. 

Corporate and Labor Organization Activity; Express Advocacy and Coordination with 
Candidates, 60 Fed.Reg. 64260-01 (Dec. 14, 1995) (to be codified at C.F.R. pts. 100, 
102,109,110 & 114), available at 1995 WL 735941. 

Moreover, a contemporaneous document in the record contradicts the FEC's conclusion. 
On September 8, 2010, a member of the ONO consortium wrote: "The Ohio News 
Organization generally follows the structure used by the Commission on Presidential 
Debates, which allows for only the major-party candidates to debate." AR 37 (emphasis 
added). As set forth above, FEC regulations forbid major party nomination to be the sole 
criterion employed to select debate participants. From the Report's analysis, it is unclear 
whether this email (which suggests that major-party nomination was the sole criterion) 
was considered and discounted, or whether it was ignored altogether. See Antosh v. 
FEC, 599 F.Supp. 850, 853 (D.D.C.1984) (concluding that the FEC's decision was 
arbitrary or capricious because it "ignored persuasive evidence in the record"). And 
conclusions made without explanation or reference to the record suggest that an agency 
has not "genuinely engaged in reasoned decision making." Greater Boston 
Television, 444 F.2d at 851. 

49. CMC's newly announced October 8, 2018 criteria were not made available to all 
candidates before the debate participants were selected nor were they ever published. They are 
doubly suspect because they contradict the previously publicly announced 5% criterion (which 
was impossible to use), and which continued to be announc^ as late as October 8, 2018 on 
CMC's web page and on its Facebook page. 

VIOLATIONS 

50. The Federal Election Campaign Act (FECA) prohibits corporations from making 
contributions or expenditures "in connection with" federal elections. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a). The 
FECA defines "contribution or expenditure" to include "any direct or indirect payment, 
distribution, loan, advance,, deposit, or gift of money, or any services, or anything of value to any 
candidate, campaign committee, or political party or organization." Id. § 441b(b)(2) (emphasis 
added). 

51. FEC regulations state that the prohibition found in 2 U.S.C. § 441b include "anything of 
value" given "to any political party or committee, organization, or any other person in connection 
with" a federal election. 11 C.F.R. § 114.1(a). 

52. Outside a properly staged debate format, corporations (including non-profits and 
incorporated membership organizations) are prohibited by FEC regulations from inviting or 
allowing the general public to attend candidates' or political parties' presentations that include 
campaign-related speech that they (that is, the corporations and incorporated membership 
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organizations) have sponsored, authorized, organized, or otherwise allowed. See FEC Advisory 
Opinion 1996-11; II C.F.R. § 114.4(b)(1); 11 C.F.R. § 114.4(e); 11 C.F.R. § 114.3(c)(2). 

53. The prohibitions on campaign-related speech at public events sponsored by corporations 
extend not only to candidates, their parties, and agents/representatives, but also to "anyone else 
on their behalf." See supra H 52; FEC Advisory Opinion 1996-11. 

54. CMC publicly claimed to have staged its October 19, 2018 debate using a published pre
existing criterion ~ 5% in an established poll — that no candidate, not even the two invited 
candidates, could meet. 

55. CMC actually staged its October 19, 2018 debate by simply selecting and inviting the 
Democratic and Republican candidates. 

56. CMC's belated explanation that it had employed permissible pre-existing objective 
criteria, including a fundraising formula that only the Democratic and Republican candidates 
happened to meet, between September 7, 2018 and October 5, 2018 is not supported by any 
contemporary documentary evidence and is belied by its continuing to publicly claim that the 
two candidates it had invited had polled 5% or more in established polls. 

57. CMC violated the rules and regulations described above by inviting only the Republican 
and Democratic candidates to debate. 

58. CMC violated the FECA by making the debate available in its entirety to the general 
public over the Internet free-of-charge. See FEC Advisory Opinion 1996-11. 

59. Because campaign-related speech was delivered by Stivers and Neal during their debate, 
and because they had actual knowledge tliat the debate had not been properly staged, their 
campaigns are complicit in CMC's violation and are equally accountable. See 2 U.S.C. § 
441b(a) (prohibiting "any candidate, political committee, or other person knowingly to accept or 
receive any contribution prohibited by this section"). 

DEMAND FOR RF.T.TF.F 

WHEREFORE, Complainant respectfully requests that the Commission investigate the 
allegations contained in this Complaint, declare that the Respondents are in violation of the 
Federal Election Campaign Act and applicable FEC regulations, and impose sanctions 
commensurate with these violations. This includes attempting immediate conciliation under 2 
U.S.C. § 437g(4)(A), instituting proceedings in the United States District Court for the Southern 
District of Ohio, see 2 U.S.C. § 437g(6)(A), and/or referring the matter to the Attorney General 
Of the United States for immediate prosecution. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(5)(C). 

11 



I swear under penalty of peijury that the allegations contained in this Complaint are, upon 
information and belief, true and correct. 

Sworn pursuant to 18U.S.C. § 1001. 

Harold D. Thomas, Chair. Libertarian Party of Ohio 
Complainant 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of October, 2018. 

Not? 

My commission expires: . a-oa\ 

lie 

AMVC.MEDER 
NOTARY PUBUC, STATE OP OHIO 

FRANKUN COUNTY 
My Comm. Explm Kby IS, 2021 

12 



Respectfiilly submitted. 

Mmk R. Biovm 
303 E. Broad Street 
Columbus, OH 43210 
614-236-6590 
i!rtbrown@law-.capital:fedu 
Attorney for Complainant 
Libertarian Pcarty of Ohio 

Oliver B.Hall 
^ Counsel to Libertarian National Committee 

1444 Duke Street 
Alexandria, VA 22314 
617-953-0161 

13 
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10/8/2018 . Columbus Metropolitan Club - 15th Congressional District Debate 

colufTibus 
ropo 

c 
me itan 

ub 
Login Area 

15th Congressional District Debate 

• Back Add to my calendar 

Owhen 19 Oct 2018 
12:00 PM-1:15 PM 

Location Ttie Boat House at Confluence 
Park 679 W Spring St, Columbus, 
OH 43215 

Registration 

• All Are Welcome - Public -
$45.00 
Columbus Metropolitan Club is 
open to everyone, we hope to 
see you at the forum! 
• Become a Memberl Get this 
event free with an Individual 
membership today! - $200.00 
• Facebook Friendsl Hello -
$35.00 S 
Use the special code found on 
our Facebook event page and 
receive $10 off a public 
registration. 
• Guest of a Member - $35.00 
Discounted guest rate is ONLY 
valid when the sponsoring 
member also attends the forum. 
Othenvlse the public rate is 
required. 
• Guest: Sponsor Seat -
$1.00 S 
• Guest: Table Attendee 
• League of Women Voters -
$35,003 
• Member-$25.00 
(You must be logged in as a 
member for this option) 
• Member - Early Bird -
$22.00 
$22 Early Bird price is ONLY 
available for on-line payment. 
You will be charged $25 for 
manual payment option. 
• Member - Lifetime 
One FREE forum per month 
Included in the Lifetime Member 
payment plan. 

Incunibent Steve Stivers (R) will debate Rick Neal (D) for the 15th 
Congressional District House seat. The debate will be moderated by Colleen 
Marshall, Co-Anchor at VVCMH NBC4. 

Sponsored by: Hannah News Service and Ohio Farm Bureau Federation 

In Partnership With: League of Wbmen Voters of Metropolitan Columbus 

With Support From: WCMH NBC4 

Regular Entree: Beef lasagna. Served with a garden salad. 

Vegetarian Entree: Vegetable lasagna. Served with a garden salad. 

While the Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free speech and Inclusion 
our debate policy requires debate participants to receive at least 5% of the 
projected vote In any recognized and widely published poll. (Examples Include 
Marlst, Quinnlplac, and Pew.) At this time, no other candidates have provided 
Information that would qualify them to participate in CMC's debate. 

http:/AMWW.columbusrnetrodub.org/event-3074276 1/2 



10/a/2018 Columbus Metropolitan Club -15th Congressional District Debate 

• Member - Lifetime (Payment 
Plan) 
• Mem ber: Sponsor Seat -
$1,003 
• Member: Table Attendee 3 
. Public Table of 10 - $500.00 
• Sponsor Table of 10 -
$10,003 

REGISTER 

% The Columbus Metropolitan Club 
100 East Broad Street 
Suite 100 
Coiumbus. Ohio 43215 
614.464.3220 

about us 
board of trustees and statf 
history 
mission 
founders 
contact us 
cmc policies 

events 
upcoming events & registretion 
about cmc events 
locations and partdng 

media 
youtube 
facebook 
subscribe to weekly ( nails 
read cmc newsletter 

join 
member benefits 
individual 
corporate 
member directory 
member faqs 

sponsor 
cmc sponsois 
become a sponsor 

donate 

©2016 Columbus Metropolitan Club. All rights reserved, wbbsiie support. 

http;//vvww.columbusmetrodub.org/event-3074276 2/2 
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1Q/8a018 

Search 

(2) 15th Congressional District Debate 

RUIIIIIIB Hciiiie Fiiiil Frleiiiis 

® Events 

Events 

Calendar 

Birthdays 

Discover 

15th Congressional 
District Debate 

Hosting 

1 Cn?aie Event 

i 

15th Congressional District Debate 

Vf v 'a 

October 19.2018 
IKKEIS AT COlUMSUSMETROCLUaCOM 

15th Congressional District Debate 
19 Public • Hosted by Columbus Metropolitan Club 

Interested | Going | 

Friday, October 19.2018 at 12 PM -1:15 PM 
Next week-

The Boat House Restaurant at Confluence Park 
679WSpiing St. ColumDus. Ohio 43215 

Hosted by Columbus Metropolitan Club 
Typically replies within a day 

Tickets 
calumbusmelrDdub.wildapricoLaig 

About 

[ Share 

Show Map 

Message Host 

Find Tickets 

Discussion 

Relatsd Events See More 

•• Join HRC for a Reception in S... 
Friday at 1 Miranova PI, Gclumb... 
1.239 guests 
Interested • Going 

Networking Night wi... 
Wednesday at GBQ Partners 

«Paa S65 guests 
•BBlS Interested • Going 

Conversation with Rick Neal a... 
Tliu Oct 25 at Bake Me Happy 
60 guests 
InlBiesled - Going 

COME OUTtoVOTEi 
' Thursday at 1700 Morse Rd. Co... 

ill 2.302 guests 
inrerested • Going 

Statas' Rights and Constltutio... 
Wed Oct 31 at The Boat House... 
Hosted by Cciumbus Melropolit... 
Interested • Going 

Issue 1: Drug and Criminal Ju... 
wed Od 17 at The Boat House ... 
Hosted by Columbus Melropolit... 
Inleiested - Going 

English (US) • Espaflol - Portugufls (Brasil) • j 
Frangais (France) • Dsulsch L 

Privacy • Tenns • Advertising • Ad Choices • 
Cookies • More 
Faoetiooke2ai8 

Write Post Add PhotoA/ideo Create Poll 

Write something.!. 

FROM NOTIFICATIONS 

9 Columbus Metropolitan Club 
Octobers at 11:45 AM-

Good moming, everyone! We have received several questions regarding the 
inclusion of 3rd party candidates so we would like to clarify our policy 
regarding debates: 

While Che Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free speech and inclusion 
our debate policy requires debate participants to receive at least 5% of the 
projected vote in any recognized and widely published poll. (Examples 
include Marist, Quinnipiac, and Pew.) At this time, no other candidates have 
provided information that would qualify them to participate in CMC's debate. 

Please reach out to us if you have any addit'ionai questionsi 

Uke 

' write a comment.. 

Comment Share 

I 
. y 

RECENT ACTIVITY 

. Ken Moellman shared a link. 
Oclober 5 el 11:26 AM-

Apparently they want in on this sort of action, loo? 

https://www.facebook.com/events/4S5g31064898731/permaiink/460601374431700/ 

Chat (2) 

1/5 



10/8/2018 

Search 

(2) 15th Congressional District Debate 

Rumple Home Pinu Frisncie 

® Events 

Events 

Calendar 

Birthdays 

Discover 

15th Congressional 

District Debate 

Hosting 

I Crsf-itc EwonJ 

Like Comment 

1 CominenI 

Share 

Relalod Events See More 

®(™ 

Columbus Metropolitan Club Hi Ken. thank you fbr sharing your 
concerns. Vi/hlie the Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free 
speech and inclusion our debate poiicy requires debate participants 
to receive at least 5% of the projected vote in any recognized and 
widely published poii. Examples include Marist, Quinnipiac, and 
Pew. 

Uke • Reply • 3d 

WHteacommenl.. 

OLDER 

t-jM NateWatkins 
October 5 at 11:26 AM-

Is Jonathan Miller going to be in the debate? 
1 Comment 

Like Comment Share 

Columbus Metropolitan Club Thank you fbr your inquiry. While the 
Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free speech and inclusion 
our debate poiicy requires debate participants to receiva at least 5% 
of the projected vote in any recognized and widely published poll. 
Examples include Marist Quinnipiac. and Pew. 

Uke • Reply - 3d 

; Write a comment.. 

Sierra Dobbs-Brown 

September 26 at 2:26 PM-

Wondering if they are accepting constituent 
questions for this debate? 

Join HRC for a Reception In S... 
=B Friday at 1 Miranova PI. Cohjmb... 

1,239 guests 

Interested * Going 

WW# 

Diversity Networking Night wi... 
Wednesday at GBQ Partners 
865 guests 

interested - Going 

Conversation with Rick Naal a... 
Thu Oct 25 at Bake Me Happy 
60 guests 

Interested - Going 

COME OUTtoVOTEi 
Thursday at 1700 Morse Rd. Co.. 

VJll 2.302 guests 
Interested - Going 

States' Rights and Constitutio.. 
Wed Oct 31 at The:Boal ftouiie.. 
Hosted by Calumbus.Meiropoiil... 

inte'nislod - Going 

Issud i: Drug .and Criininai Ju... 
Wed Oct 17'al The Boat Hoiiso... 
Hosted by Columbus Mclropoiil... 

• interested- Going 

EngUsh (US) - EspaAoi - Portuguds (Brasll) -
Frangais (France) • Deulsch 

Privacy - 1brms - Advertising - Ad Choices 
Cookies - More 
Facebooke20t6 

1 Comment 

Like Comment Share 

Columbus Metropolitan Club Hi Sierra, all of our fonrms have an 
audience OSA section! 

Uke - Reply - 3d 

a comment.. "1 
Kelli Rodin 

Seplember25 at 7:26 PM-

i will not be attending this because they're excluding Johnathan Miller fbr 

Congress 2018. 

3 2 Comments 

Like Comment Share 

Jonathan Berry This is a privately sponsored event. As a 
Libertarian, you should know private organisations can include and 
exclude anyone 

Uke • Reply - 1w 

https;//tMww.facebook.com/events/455g31064898731/pennalink/46060137443170(V 

I Chat (2) 

2/5 



10/8/2018 

Search 

(2) 15th Congressional District Debate 

Ruinpis Hnme F-'liitl HriKiids 

S Events 

Events 

Calendar 

Birthdays 

Discover 

15th Congressional 
District Debate 

Hosting 

Columbus Metropolitan Club Thank you for your Inquiry. While the 
Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free speech and Inclusion 
our debate policy requires debate participants to receive at least 5% 
or the projected vote In any recognized and widely published poll. 
Examples include Marlst, Qulnnlplac, and Pew. 

Uks • Reply • 3d ^ 

, Write a comment... - J 

C.-Scitn Event 

Harold Thomas 
September 25 el 7:25 PM •. 

Why are you excluding Libertarian Johnathan Miliar? Keep In mind that by 
excluding him, the Columbus Mebopoiitan Club may be In violation of Ohio 
campaign finance law and section 501(c)(3) of the internal Revenue Code 
for making an in-kind contribution to the accepted candidates. 

t Comment 

.Pi Like Comment Share 

Columbus Metropolitan Club Thank you for your Inquiry. While the 
Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free speech and Inclusion 
our debate policy requires debate participants to receive at least 5% 
of the projected vote In any recognized and widely published poll. 
Examples Include Marlst, Qulnnlplac, and Pew. 

Like ' Reply • 3d 

Write a comment.. 

Related Events See More 

Join HRC for a Reception In S... 
Friday at 1 Miranova PI. Columb... 
1,239 guests 
Interested • Going 

JSTJswSy Diversity Networking Night wi.. 
Wwiy Wednesday at GSQ Partners 
lUBaa 665 guests 

Interested • Going 

Conversation with Rick Neal a.., 
Thu Oct 25 at Bake Me Happy 
60 guests 
tnterested • Going 

COMEOUTtoVOTEl 
OIIIEI Thursday at 1700 Morse Rd. Co... 
aVSil 2.302 guests 

Interested • Going 

pn States' Rights and Constltutlo... 
Wed Oct 31 at The Boat House ... 
Hosted by Columbus MetropoUt... 
Interasled - Going 

Issue 1: Drug and Criminal Ju... 
wed Oct 17 at The Boat House ... 
Hosted by Columbus MetropoUt... 

•—ts.. T- Interested - Going 

Joe Loyd 
September 25 at 7:24 PM-

You're missing one of the candidates. Please reach out to Jonathan Mliler for 
inclusion in your event! 

2 1 Comment -. 

English (US) • EspaAol - PortuguAs (Brasil) • j 
Frangals (France) • Deutsch 

Privacy • Terms • Advertising • Ad Choices • 
Cookies • More 
Facebook 92018 

Like Comment Share 

Columbus Metropolitan Club Thank you for your Inquiry. While the 
Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free speech and Inclusion 
cur debate policy requires debate participants to receive at least 5% 
of the projected vote In any recognized and widely published poll. 
Examples Include Man'st. Qulnnlplac, and Paw. 

Like - Reply • 3d 

Whte a comment.. 
"S. 

) 

Kryssl Wichers 
September 25 at 7:21 PM-

Shouldn't all candidates on the ballot be debating? As a 15th district 
constitutent, I'd like to hear from ail my options so I can make the best 
choice for my family 

1 Comment 

Like Comment Share 

Columbus Metropolitan Club Thank you Ibr your Inquiry. While ttie 
Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free speech and Inclusion 
our debate policy requires debate partla'pants to receive at least 5% 
of the projected vote In any recognized and widely published poll. 
Examples include Marlst Qulnnlplac, and Pew. 

Like - Reply - 3d 

https://Vwwv.facebook.eom/events/455931064898731/peinialinK/460601374431700/ 

Chat (2) 
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Search 

(2) 15th Congressional District Debate 

RuiDple Home Ri(i FHRIUIS 

S Events 

Events 

Calendar 

Birthdays 

Discover 

15th Congressional 
District Debate 

Hosting 

CrR3t(! Evcnl 

Damien Chekc 
Sepleinber25at7:21 PM • 

What about Jonathan Miller the Libertarian candidate? Are you not allowing 
voters to hear ail sides from all candidates so they can make an informed 
decision? That sounds like electioneering to me. 

2 1 Comment 

Related Events See More 

Like Comment Share 

Columbus Metropolitan Club Thank you fbr your inquiry. While the 
Columbua Metropolitan Ciub champions free speech and inclusion 
our debate policy requires debate participants to receive at least 5% 
of the projected vote in any recognized and widely published poil. 
Exampies include Marist, Quinniplac, and Pew. 

Lite - Reply • 3d 

' wnte a comment.. 1 

Kyle Pierce 
September 25 at 7:15 PM-

Was an invitation extended to Jonathan 
Miller, the Libertarian candidate? 

Like Comment 

1 Comment 

Share 

Columbus Metropolitan Club Thank you fbr your inquiry. While the 
Columbus Metropolitan Club champions free speech and inclusion 
our debate policy requires debate participants to receive at least 5% 
of the projected vote in any recognized and widely published poil. 
Exemples include MarisL Quinniplac, and Pew. 

Lite • Reply • 3d 

Kyle Pierce replied • 1 Reply 

' Write a comment.. J 

I' Join HRC lor a Reception in S... 
Friday at 1 Miranova PI. Columb... 
1,239 guests 
Interested • Going 

••varsity Networking Night wi... 
Wednesday at GBQ Partners 
865 guests 
interested • Going 

Conversation wllh Rick Neal a... 
Thu Oct 25 at Bate Me Happy 
60 guests 
Interested • Going 

f COMEOUTtoVOTEl 
Thursday at 1700 Morse Rd. Co... 
2,302 guests 

I Interested - Going 

States'Rights end Constitutlo... 
Wed Oct 31 at The Boat House... 
Hosted by Columbus Metropoiit... 
interested - Going 

Issue 1: Drug and Criminal Ju... 
Wed Oct 17 at The Boat House... 
Hosted by Columbus Metropoiit... 

7: interested - Going 

English (US) • Espafiol • Portugu6s (Brasli) • | 
Frangais (France) • Deutsch !. 

Privacy • Tfenms • Advertising • Ad Choices -
Cookies - More 
Facebooke 2018 

Emily Williams Arp 
September 25 at 5:35 PM-

Got my ticket!!! Who wants to sit with me? 

Like Comment 

tAfrite a comment.. 

Share 

Kyle Lewis 
September 25 at 4:2t PM •' 

Will this be broadcast or streamed? There are a lot of voters who can't miss 
work, drive to Columbus, or pay $35 to see a debate. 

3 4 Comments 

Like Comment Share 

View 1 more comment 

Susan Hyde it's an event by the Columbus Metropolitan Ciub so it 
will probably be available on their YouTube channel. If i can get 

htlpsy/tMww.facebook.com/events/455931064898731/permaiink/46a601374431700/ 

I Chat (2) 

4/5 
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Search 
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I Rumple Homo Find Friniids 

B Events 

Events 

Calendar 

Birthdays 

Discover 

1Sth Congressional 
District Debate 

Hosting 

Create Eveni 

^-Susan Hyde replied • 1 Reply 

Columbus IMetropoiitan Club Hi Kyle. Susan summed this up 
pretty well. We are a non-prolit organization and the cost of your 
ticket covers the cost of your lunch. We record all of our forums and 
broadcast them on our website, as well as CTV (Columbus TV), and 
on PBS stations across the state. 

Uke • Reply • 3d ' 

Kyle Lewis Thanksl 

Uke • Reply - 3d 

•^'viHte a comment.. 3 

Related Events See More 

Join HRC for a Reception In S... 
^ Friday al 1 Miranova PI, Columb.., 

1,239 guests 
Interested • Going 

Diversity Networking Night wi... 
Wednesday at GBQ Partners 

. 865 guests 
. Interested • Going 

Conversation with Rick NesI a.., 
Thu Oct 25 at Bake Me Happy 
60 guests 

' Interested • Going 

COMEOUTtoVOTEl 
iniEf Thursday al 1700 Morse Rd, Co.., 
Pygil 2,302 guests 

I Interested • Going 

I 
States- Rights and Constitutlo... 

4; Wed Oct 31 at The Boat House... 
Hosted by Columbus Metrepolll. .. 
Interested • Going 

Issue 1: Drug and Criminal Ju... 
wed Oct 17 at The Boat House... 
Hosted by Columbus Melropolit... 

rjiPi-. Interested • Going 

Older Posts 
English (US) • Espanol • PortuguEs (Brasil).- I 
Frangais (France) • Deutsch L. 

Privacy • Tenns • Advertising • Ad Choices • 
Cookies • More 
Facebooke2018 

Chat (2) 

https;//Vwwv,fecebook.com/events/455931084898731/permalink/460601374431700/ 5/5 
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10/8/2018 RE: 2018 debate criteria 

RE: 2018 debate criteria 
Brown, Mark 
SenfcMonday, October 08, 2018 3:47 PM 
To: Anrlrew Campbell [andrew@cclumbusmetroclub.org] 
Cc: ; Paul, Beth 

Thanks Mr. Campbell, 

TTiank you for your timely response. As I told you on the phone, you do not have to speak to me or communicate with me 
in any way. You volunteered. As for proving your innocence, I was simply pointing out that federal law requires that your 
organization prove via documentation that it has compiied with federal tax laws and the federal campaign finance laws 
when It makes contributions to candidates. The La Botz case I sent you says that 

As for my time, I am as you apparently know a faculty member at Capital University. I am also a licensed attorney in 
Ohio. The Supreme Cburt of Ohio, my licensing organization, strongly encourages lawyers (including me) to donate pro 
bono legai services. See http://www.supremecourtohio.govMttySvcs/offioeAttySvcs/proBono.pdf. Capital is a member of 
the AAL5 (Association of American Law Schools) and is certified by the ABA (American Bar Association). These two 
organizations both strongly encourage students and faculty alike to engage In pro bono activities. See, 
e.g., https://www.americanbar.org/groups/legal_education/resources/pro_bbno.html; https://www.aals.org/sections/list/pro-
bono/. 

I take my pro bono obligations seriously, and have for about 15 years now donated significant efforts to organizations 
devoted to reforming ballot access laws and additional barriers presented by governmental and private entities to full and 
fair treatment in the voting booth. I have represented the Socialist Party, the Natural Law Party, the Libertarian Party, 
Ralph Nader, and many others who have sought to challenge the two-party political system that presently exists In Ohio 
and the United States. I do so for free. I, like many law professors across the country in various fields of public service, 
will continue to do so. 

In the event, to avoid confusion I Include a "For Identification Oniy" aiong with my signature block on e-mails. Any 
omission of that Information is inadvertent. 

Sincerely, 

Mark 

Mark R. Brown 
Newton D. Baker/Baker & Hostetler Chair 
Capital University Law School* 
*For Identification Only 

From: Andrew Campbell [andrew@columbusmetroclub.org] 
Sent: Monday, October 08, 2018 2:56 PM 
To: Brown, Mark 
Cc: i; Paul, Beth 
Subject: RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Hello Mr. Brown, It seems that you are requesting that i prove my innocence. I am not inclined to do that at this time. 
However, i have provided documentation, dialogue, and answered your questions iii a timely matter. 

I've included Capital University President Beth Paul as I'm sure she'll be interested how you're investing your time there.. 

I appreciate your outreach and engagement anytime. 

My kindest regards, 
Andy C 

https://webmail.capital.edu/owa/?ae°lteni&t=IPM.Note&id=RgAAAADI\/la%2bSR%2f7svRZrn0BR%2b3awtBwAzBGWzUTVSR5Y7qZmlVNEDAAACBI..; 1/4 

mailto:andrew@cclumbusmetroclub.org
http://www.supremecourtohio.govMttySvcs/offioeAttySvcs/proBono.pdf
https://www.americanbar.org/groups/legal_education/resources/pro_bbno.html
mailto:andrew@columbusmetroclub.org


10/8/2018 RE: 2018 debate criteria 

From: Brown, Mark<MBrown@law.capital.edu> 
Sent: Monday, October 08, 2018 2:17 PM 
To: Andrew Campbell <andrew@columbusmetroclub.org> 
Cc: 1 

Subject: RE: 2018 debate criteria 

TTianks Mr. Campbell, 

Do you have documentation, like e-mails, correspondence, etc., proving that you used this financial data to select the 
Invited participants? For example, e-mails to the candidates stating your criteria and asking them to demonstrate that they 
met it? You did not do this for the LPO candidate, of course, but perhaps you did for the two major candidates. If there is 
no contemporaneous documentation, it would appear that you cannot meet the FECA requirements. You might take a look 
at La Botzv. Federal Election Commission, 889 F. Supp. 2d 51 (D.D.C. 2012), which warns against post hoc 
rationalizations. 

I have copied Oliver Hall, legal counsel to the Libertarian National Committee. 

Thanks. 

Mark 

Mark R. Brown 
Newton D. Baker/Baker & Hostetler Chair 
Capital University Law School 

From: Andrew Campbell [andrew@columbusmetroclub.org] 
Sent: Monday, October 08, 2018 1:19 PM 
To: Brown, Mark 
Subject: RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Hello Mr. Brown, please find FEC finance reports for "Active" Ohio IS*** Congressional district candidates Steve Stivers and 
Rick Neal. There is no Federal Election Commission finance report for the candidate you have inquired on behalf of, Mr. 
Jonathon Miller. 

Based on our stated criteria, without any FEC campaign finance filing, or record of same, or listing it, would be impossible 
for us to have considered him as a debate participant at any time past or present. 

I look forward to future opportunities to provide equal time to all candidates who meet the minimum qualifications for 
debate participation. 

My kindest regards, 
Andy Campbell 

Steve Stivers FEC election finance report "Active" 2018 
TOTAL RECEIPTS $3,259,497.24 
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS $3,007,041.38 
Total Individual contributions $953,622.49 
Itemized individual contributions $942.166.00 
Unitemized individual contributions $11,456.49 
Party committee contributions $6.00 
Other committee contributions $2.053.418-89 

https;//webmail.capital.edu/owa/?ae=ltem&t=IPM.Note&id=RgAAAADMa%2bSR%2f7svRZrnOBR%2b3awtBwAzBGWzUTVSR5Y7qZmiVNEOAAACBI... 2/4 
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mailto:andrew@columbusmetroclub.org
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I 

Candidate contributions 
TRANSFERS FROM OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES 
TOTAL LOANS RECEIVED 
Loans made by candidate 
Other loans 
OFFSETS TO OPERATING EXPENDITURES 
OTHER RECEIPTS 

$0.00 
$252:455.86 

$0.00 
.$MQ 
$0.00 
$0^ 

Total spent 
iBrbwse disbureements| 
Cbverage dates: 01/01/2017 to 06/30/2018 
TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS 
OPERATING EXPENDITURES 
TRANSFERS TO OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES 
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION REFUNDS 
Individual refunds 
Political party refunds 
Other committee refunds 
TOTAL LOAN REPAYMENTS 
Candidate loan repayments 
Other loan repayments 
OTHER DISBURSEMENTS 

$2,147,599.70 
$1.165.999.70 

$20,000.00 

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS 
OPERATING EXPENDITURES 
TRANSFERS TO OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES 
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION REFUNDS 
Individual refunds 
Political party refunds 
Other committee refunds 
TOTAL LOAN REPAYMENTS 
Candidate loan repayments 
Other loan repayments 
OTHER DISBURSEMENTS 

$8,100.00 
$.i:5Q0:Q0 

,$o.od 
$6.600.00 

$0.00 
.$0.00 
.$000 

$953.500.00 

Rick Neal FEC election finance report "Active" 2018 
TOTAL RECEIPTS 
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS 
Total individual contributions 
Itemized individual contributions 
Unitemized individual contributions 
Party committee contributions 
Other committee contributions 
Candidate contributions 
TRANSFERS FROM OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES 
TOTAL LOANS RECEIVED 
Loans made by candidate 
Other loans 
OFFSETS TO OPERATING EXPENDITURES 
OTHER RECEIPTS 

$921,910.25 
$646,910.25 
$574,871.48 
$463:82965 

TOTAL RECEIPTS 
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS 
Total individual contributions 
Itemized individual contributions 
Unitemized individual contributions 
Party committee contributions 
Other committee contributions 
Candidate contributions 
TRANSFERS FROM OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES 
TOTAL LOANS RECEIVED 
Loans made by candidate 
Other loans 
OFFSETS TO OPERATING EXPENDITURES 
OTHER RECEIPTS 

$111,041.83 
.$OQ0 

$42.897.94 
$29.140.83 

$0.00 
$275,000.00 
$275.000.00 

.$0,00 

.$000 
$0.00 

Total spent 
iBpowse disbursements! 
Goverage dates; 07/01/2017 to 06/30/2018 
TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS 
OPERATING EXPENDITURES 
TRANSFERS TO OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES 
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION REFUNDS 
Individual refunds 
Political party refunds 
Other committee refunds 
TOTAL LOAN REPAYMENTS 
Candidate loan repayments 

$418,758.93 
$409.733.93 

.$0.00 
$7,525.00 
.$7:525.00 

.$OQ0 

.$000 
$0.00 
.$0,00 

tittps;//w8bmail.capital.edu/owa/?ae=ltem&t=IPM.Note&id=Rg/W\ADMa%2b5R%2f7svRZm0BR%2b3awtBwAzBGWzUTVSR5Y7qZmiVNED/W\CBI... 3/4 



10/8/2018 RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Other loan repayments 
OTHER DISBURSEMENTS $1.500:00 

From: Andrew Campbell 
Sent: Monday, October 08, 2018 12:50 PM 
To: 'mbrown@law.capital.edu' <mbrbwri'@law/caDital.edu> 
Subject: 2018 debate criteria 

Columbus Metropolitan Club 
General Election Debate Candidate Qualification Criterion 2018 

1. Candidate must be on the ballot as of the date of the Debate AND 

2. Must meet all other minimum criteria under the Campaign Finance Act ("the Act") AND 

a. Must have raised and spent $100,000 in compliance with the Act as reflected in the last filing statement prior 
to the Debate OR 

b. Must have achieved at least 5% in any published Poll prior to the Debate. In order to be used in this section 
^ the poll must: 

iil' i. Have a margin of 4.5% or less 

ii. Include all of the candidates on the ballot (for the election for which the poll is conducted) at the 
same time the poll is taken. 

If no such poll exists, then section (b) may not be used for Debate eligibility for any candidate and section (a) will 
be used to determine Debate eligibility for all candidates on the ballot for the election for which the Debate is 
being conducted. 

Andrew Campbell 
Vice President of Programming 
Cbliinfibus lyietfQpblifiari Club 
100 East Broad Street Suite 100 

Columbus. OH 43215 

614.464.3220 ext 2 cell: 614.686.3793 

Like usr@ 
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T LIBERTARtAN 
MiiiiimnTiGpyprnnicniVMaximumiFrenflom 

October 10,2018 

The Columbus Metropolitan Club 
100 East Broad Street 
Suite 100 
Columbus, Ohio 432 IS 

Steve Stivers 
Stivers Headquarters 
211 S. 5th Street 
Columbus, OH 43215 

RickNeal 
Rick Neal for Congress 
545 E. Town St. 
Columbus, OH 43215 

Dear Columbus Metropolitan Club, et al.. 

We represent the Libertarian Party of Ohio and the Libertarian National Committee. It has 
come to our clients' attention that the Columbus Metropolitan Club, a registered 501(cX3) 
organization, is staging a debate between Steve Stivers, who is a Republican, and Richard Neal, who 
is a Democrat on October 19, 2018. The two are running against each other for the 15th 
congressional seat in Ohio. The staging of this debate unfortunately ignored the Libertarian Party of 
Ohio's candidate, Jonathan Miller, who is also a qualified candidate in that race. 

According to the Metropolitan Club's web page, in order to qualify for this debate a candidate 
must meet a 5% polling requirement in recognized polls. That is the only published standard. Your 
Facebook account repeatedly reiterates this as the sole standard in responses to several inquiries. 
Your responses are dated September 25,2018. 

Andrew Campbell in your office was kind enough to speak with the undersigned Mr. Brown 
by phone on October 8,2018. After Mr. Brown left a message with your office explaining that it was 
impossible for any candidate to meet your 5% polling standard — no polling had been done 
whatsoever - Mr. Campbell stated that the Metropolitan Club had employed an alternative standard 
based on the amount of money candidates had raised. This alternative was never published and was 
fu-st revealed on October 8, 2018 in an e-mail Mr. Campbell sent to Mr. Brown. The standard 
contained in that e-mail is not contained in a separate document, but was typed into the text of the e-
mail. 

When Mr. Brown asked Mr. Campbell whether that alternative standard had actually been 
used to invite Stivers and Neal to participate in the debate ~ invitations that obviously had been 
extended before September 25, 2018 ~ Campbell said he did not know. He said he assumed 
those campaigns had met the alternative standard; he later that day e-mailed their EEC reports 
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indicating they had. In that e-mail, he also stated that it "would be impossible for us to have 
considered him [Jonadian Miller] as a debate participant at any time past or present." 

When Mr. Brown asked via e-mail that Mr. Campbell produce a single document indicating 
that the alternative standard he claimed to now be using exist^ when the invitations to Stivers and 
Neal were made or was actually used to extend the invitations to Stivers and Neal, Mr. Campbell 
demurred. Apparently such documentation does not exist. 

Please be advised that the Metropolitan Club is likely violating federal tax laws and the 
Federal Election Campaign Act (FECA) by staging an exclusive debate between the two major-party 
candidates without employing permissible pre-existing and objective standards to select the 
participants. Under the federal Internal Revenue Code (IRC), SO I (c)(3) organizations may sponsor 
candidate debates so long as they provide a fair and neutral forum and equal time to aU legally 
qualified candidates. See Rev. Rul. 86-95, 1986-2 C.B. 73. The IRS considers several criteria in 
determining whether the organization satisfies this standard: first and foremost, the debate's sponsors 
must have invited all legally qualified candidates for the contested office. If this proves 
impracticable, the sponsoring organization may limit debate participants to those who meet the 
organization's pre-existing, objective and established standards. Polling, for example, may be used to 
limit participating candidates to those who achieve a pre-existing, established and stated percentages. 
See T.A.M. 9635003 (April 19, 1996). But these percentages must actually be used - an 
impossibility for the Stivers-Neal debate because no poll for any candidates was ever taken. 

What 501(c)(3) organizations absolutely cannot lawfully do is simply select the candidates of 
the two major parties for their debates. Federal tax law relies heavily on section 110.13(c) of Title 11 
of the Code of Federal Regulations, which states: "For all debates, staging organization(s) must use 
pre-established objective criteria to determine which candidates may participate in a debate. For 
general election debates, staging organizations(s) shall not use nomination by a particular political 
party as the sole objective criterion to determine whether to include a candidate in a debate." 
Consequently, to the extent the Club simply invited Stivers and Neal because they were major-party 
candidates, it violated the IRC. 

In terms of the FECA, section 110.13 of the Code of Federal Regulations allows corporate 
contributions and expenditures to be used to defray the costs of conducting candidate debates, but 
only when those debates are held by nonpartisan organizations that comply with the four conditions 
stated therein. Most importantly, non-profit debate staging organizations are required to use "pre-
established obiective Criteria to determine which candidates mav particioate in the dSbate." 11 C.F.R. 
§ 110.13(c) (emphasis added), and cannot "use nomihatidn/bv a.particular political oaitv as the sble-
•objective criterion io defemiine whether to include a candidate in a debate." Id. (emphasis added). 

Interpreting this regulation, federal courts have ruled that "[sjtaging organizations must be 
able to show that their objective criteria were used to pick the participants, and that the criteria were 
not designed to result in the selection of certain pre-chosen participants." See Buchanan v. Federal 
Election Commission, 112 F. Supp.2d 58, 74 ^.D.C. 2000) (quoting FEC statement) (emphasis 
added). The burden is on the staging organization. The court in Buchanan v. Federal Election 
Commission, 112 F. Supp.2d at 74, further stated that "[tjaken together, these statements by the 
regulation's drafters strongly suggest that the objectivity requirement precludes debate sponsors from 
selecting a level of support so high that only the Democratic and Republican nominees could 
reasonably achieve it." 
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Consequently, debate staging organizations cannot rely on party status to select participants, 
cannot simply select the two major party candidates, and cannot employ criteria that are impossible 
for new and/or minor parties to meet. See La Botz v. Federal Election Commission, 889 F. Supp.2d 
51 (D.D.C. 2012). In the La Botz case, for example, the federal district court in Washington, D.C., 
ruled that the Ohio News Organization's (ONO) practice of selecting only the two major parties' 
candidates for debates was illegal under federal law before remanding the matter to ^e Federal 
Election Commission: "The Ohio News Organization generally follows the structure used by the 
Commission on Presidential Debates, which allows for only the major-party candidates to debate. As 
set forth above, FEC regulations forbid major party nomination to be the sole criterion employed to 
select debate participants." Id. at 62. 

Of great importance in La Botz ~ because it happens so often and appears to be happening 
now with the Metropolitan Club - the court rejected the ONO's belated attempt to claim that it had 
employed pre-existing objective criteria when its previous documented statements established a 
different standard. No pre-existing documentation supported the belated claim. All the Ohio News 

^ Organization had offered was the affidavit of Benjamin Marrison, the editor for the Columbus 
4; Dispatch, who claimed that pre-existing objective criteria were used. This affidavit was dismissed by 
7 the federal court out of hand: "this affidavit was only submitted after the FEC inquiry had 
4 commenced. And such affidavits raise the risk that they will merely provide a vehicle for a party's 
4, post hoc rationalizations, this sole affidavit highlights the absence of anv^contemooraneous evidence 
9; suggesfinp that-ONQ: employed pre-established selection criteriaId. at 62 (emphasis added). Post-
@ hoc rationalizations are not enough; contemporaneous documentation is required. 

Please be advised that our clients believe the Club's, Mr. Stivers's and Mr. Neal's actions 
violate federal law. If any of you have contemporaneous documentation demonstrating that the 
debate was staged in compliance with the aforementioned requirements, we ask that you provide 
them immediately. Should the debate proceed as planned without the required documentation, our 
clients are prepared to take the necessary steps to protect their and the public's interests in both fair 
elections and feirly administered charitable organizations. 

The undersigned counsel for the LPO can be reached at 614-236-6590. The undersigned 
counsel for the LNC can be reached at 617-953-0161. 

Sincerely yours. 

Oliver B. Hall 
Attomey-at-Law 
Counsel to Libertarian National Committee 

Mark R. Brown 
Attomey-at-Law 
Counsel to the Libertarian Party of Ohio 
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10/10/2018 RE; 2018 debate criteria 

RE: 2018 debate criteria 
Brown, Mark 
Sent:Wednesday, October 10,2018 4:12 PM 
To: Jane Scott |jane@oolumbiJsmetroclub.org]; Andrew Campbell [andrew@columbusmetroclub.org] 
Cc: oliverbhall@gmall.com; brett.kappel@akerman.com 

Thanks Ms. Scott, 

Mr. Campbell already sent that to me. It is not dated, and there is no way to confirm when it was adopted. 

The problem is that no one at the Metropolitan Club has shared any documentation proving that any formula other than 
the published 5% polling formula was in place when the debate was planned and publicly announced. We know that the 
debate was announced with only two invited participants (Stivers and Neal) before September 25,2018. Documents 
prove that. We also know that at that time your Qub was publicly saying that the standard was reaching 5% in any 
recognized poll, such as Marist, etc. No mention was ever made of a monetary alternative. And we also know that there 
was no poll at all at the time the debate was planned and announced (nor is there one yet), meaning that the invited 
candidates could not have met the published standard. Yet they were invited anyway. We last know that the Libertarian 
Party and its candidate had no knowledge of any of this until after your Qub had already staged and published the debate, 
so they could not have supplied your Club with either polling data or financial data before your Club decided to invite 
Stivers and Neal. 

What my clients need, then, and what the FEC will want to see (because the staging organization must prove that it 
complied with 11CFR 110.13) is (1) proof that you had this formula back in September when you announced the debate 
and (2) proof that you actually used it to select the two Invited participants. OthenMlse your sending this formula can be 
dismissed as a post hoc rationalization for what was already a done deal excluding the Libertarian Party candidate. That is 
what happened in the La Botz case that was sent to you before. 

Documentation surely would exist if you had and used this formula. See La Botz. If nothing else, you should have 
documentation (e-mails, for example) proving that you applied this formula when you invited Neal and Stivers. 

If you have any documentation at all proving that your Qub used this formula when it invited Neal and Stivers please send 
it to me or Mr. Hall. 

Sincerely, 

Mark 

Mark R. Brown 
Newton D. Baker/Baker & Hostetler Chair 
Capital University Law School* 
*For Identification Only 

From: Jane Scott [jane@columbusmetroclub.org] 
Sent: Wednesday, October 10,2018 3:24 PM 
To: Brown, Mark; Andrew Campbell 
Cc: oliverbhall@gmail.com; brett.kappel@akerman.com 
Subject: RE: 2018 debate aiteria 

Dear Mr. Brown, 
Thank you for your letter. 
Attached is CMC Debate Qualifications. If your candidate can meet the conditions detailed in 

our CMC Debate Qualifications, please communicate this with Andrew Campbell and he will include 
your candidate in the debate. 

Thank you, 
Jane 

h«ps.7/webriail.capital.edu/ovwi/?ae=ltem4t=IPM.Note&id=RgAAAADMa%2b5R%2f7svRZmQBR%2b3awtBwAzBGW2UTVSR5Y7<iZmiVNEDAAACBI... 1/7 
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- 10/10/2018 RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Jane Scott, President & CEO 
Columbus Metropolitan Club 
the community's conversation 
wo E. Broad St.. #ioo, Columbus, OH 43215 

0:614-464-3220 Ext. 3; C: 614-315-7298 
wivw.coiumbusmeti-oi~liib:Oii» 
Do all the good you can, by all the means you can. 

And all the ways you can, at all the times you can. 
To all the people you can, as long as ever you can. 

From: Brown, Mark <MBrown@law.capital.eclu> 
Sent: Wednesday, October 10,2018 3:01 PM 
To: Jane Scott <jane@columbusmetroclub.org>; Andrew Campbell <andrew@columbusmetroclub.org> 
Cc: oliverbhall@gmall.com 

^ Subject: RE: 2018 debate criteria 

I HI Ms. Scott, 
4 ̂

 Please see the attached letter from the Libertarian National Committee. 

f Sincerely, 

Mark 

Mark R. Brown 
Newton D. Baker/Baker & Hostetler Chair 
Capital University Law School* 
*For Identification Only 

From: Jane Scott [jane@columbusmetToclub.org] 
Sent: Tuesday, October 09, 2018 4:05 PM 
To: Brown, Mark 
Cc: cilivefbhall@Qmail.c6m' 
Subject: RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Dear Mr. Brown, 
Thank you for sharing your comments. We have taken them into consideration. 

Jane 

Jane Scott, President & CEO 
Columbus Metropolitan Club 

the community's conversation 

loo E. Bix>ad St., #100, Columbus, OH 43215 

0:614-464-3220 Ext. 3: C: 614-315-7298 
wvw.g61uiTibusmctrbclub.bre 

Do all the good you can, by all the means you can. 

And all the ways you can, at all the times you can, 

lb all the people you can, as long as ever you can. 

From: Brown, Mark <MBrbwn'@iaw.caDitaiiedu> 
Sent: Monday, October 8,2018 5:29 PM 
To: Jane Scott <jahe;@;columbusmetroclub;org> 
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' 10/10/2018 RE; 2018 debate criteria 

Cc: oliverbha jria'e'maihcbm 
Subject: FW: 2018 debate criteria 

Hi Ms. Scott, 

It Is my understanding that you are the CEO of the Columbus Metropolitan Club. I have been In contact with Andrew 
Campbell about the Stivers-Neal debate. He appeared helpful at first and volunteered to send me Information, but then 
seemed to turn defensive to my Inquiries. I have documents dated September 25,2018 Indicating that the Columbus 
Metropolitan Qub's stated criteria for Inclusion In that debate was 5% polling. When I pointed out to Mr. Campbell that 
there were no polls at all showing any candidate, even the two Invited participants, had 5% in any poll, Mr. Campbell 
Informed me that there was an alternative that required $100K collected and spent according to FEC reports. When I 
asked If this was ever published, he said no. When I asked If this was used to extend invitations to the major candidates 
who were invited, he said he did not know. I asked for any kind of documentation showing It was, and then Mr. Campbell 
apparently became angry. 

I am sorry that I made Mr. Campbell angry. I am simply seeking documentation that proves the Columbus Metropolitan 
aub actually applied a 5% polling OR $100K formula to select the two Invited candidates. Frankly, I doubt that It did, and 
I think that doubt Is understandable. If It has no proof that it did, I can only conclude that Mr. Campbell's explanation Is a 
post hoc rationalization akin to "We could have...." I sent to Mr. Campbell a dtation to the La Botz case which holds that 
post hoc rationalizations are not sufficient under the FECA, even If the debate staging organization could have achieved the 
same result in a permissible fashion. 

It may be best If you were to put me In contact with your legal department so that we might discuss this further. I am 
more than happy to supply you with the legal authorities establishing that debate staging organizations must prove they 
actually employed permissible pre-existing objective criteria. I can also provide the authorities stating that debate staging 
organizations cannot simply choose the candidates of the two major political parties, and that they cannot set alteria they 
know are impossible for minor-party candidates cannot meet. 

I hope we can have a dialogue about this before the debate. 

I am copying Oliver Hall, legal counsel to the Libertarian National Committee. I represent the Libertarian Party of Ohio. 

Sincerely, 

Mark 

Mark R. Brown 
j Newton D. Baker/Baker & Hosteller Chair 
! Capital University Law School* 

•For Identification Only 

From: Brown, Mark 
Sent: Monday, October 08,2018 3:47 PM 
To: Andrew Campbell 
Cc: ollverbhall@artialLcom: Paul, Beth 
Subject: RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Thanks Mr. Campbell, 

Thank you for your timely response. As I told you on the phone, you do not have to speak to me or communicate with me 
In any way. You volunteered. As for proving your Innocence, I was simply pointing out that federal law requires that your 
organization prove via documentation that It has complied with federal tax laws and the federal campaign finance laws 
when It makes contributions to candidates. The La Botz case I sent you says that. 
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• 10/10/2018 RE: 2018 debate criteria 

As for my time, I am as you apparently know a faculty member at Capital University. I am also a licensed attorney in 
Ohio. "Hie Supreme Court of Ohio, my licensing organization, strongly encourages lawyers (including me) to donate pro 

the AA^ (Association of American Law Schools) and is certified by the ABA (American Bar Association). These two 
organizations both strongly encourage students and faculty alike to engage in pro bono activities. See, 
e.g., httPs://www:americanbar.orQ/orouD5/leQal education/resources/oro bono.html: httns://www.aalS:orQ/sectiQhs/list/aro-
bgngZ. 

I take my pro bono obligations seriously, and have for about 15 years now donated significant efforts to organizations 
devoted to reforming ballot access laws and additional barriers presented by govemmental and private entities to full and 
fair treatment in the voting booth. I have represented the Socialist Party, the Natural Law Party, the Libertarian Party, 
Ralph Nader, and many others who have sought to challenge the two-party political system that presently exists in Ohio 
and the United States. I do so for free. I, like many law professors across the country in various fields of public service, 
will continue to do so. 

In the event, to avoid confusion I include a "For Identification Only" along with my signature block on e-mails. Any 
omission of that information is inadvertent. 

Sincerely, 

Mark 

.J Mark R. Brown 
4 Newton D. Baker/Baker & Hostetler Chair 

Capital University Law School* 
*For Identification Only 

From: Andrew Campbell [andrew@columbusmetrodub.org] 
Sent: Monday, October 08, 2018 2:56 PM 
To: Brown, Mark 
Cc: ollverbhall@amailicom: Paul, Beth 
Sulqect: RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Hello Mr. Brown, it seems that you are requesting that I prove my innocence. I am not inclined to do that at this time.. 
However, i have provided documentation, dialogue, and answered your questions in a timely matter. 

I've included Capital University President Beth Paul as I'm sure she'll be interested how you're investing your time there. 

I appreciate your outreach and engagement anytime.. 

My kindest regards, 
AndyC 

Sent: Monday, October 08,2018 2:17 PM 
To: Andrew Campbell <andrew@columbusmetrociub.org> 
Cc: olivefbhail<aBmaii;iEom 
Subject: RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Thanks Mr. Campbell, 
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' 10/10/2018 RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Do you have documentation, like e-mails, correspondence, etc., proving that you used this financial data to select the 
invited participants? For example, e-mails to the candidates stating your criteria and asking therh to demonstrate that they 
met it? You did not do this for the LPO candidate, of course, but perhaps you did for the two major candidates. If there is 
no contemporaneous documentation, it would appear that you cannot meet the FECA requirements. You might take a look 
at La Botzv. Federal Election Commission, 889 F. Supp. 2d SI (U.D.C. 2012), which warns against post hoc 
rationalizations. 

I have copied Oliver Hall, legal counsel to the Libertarian National Committee. 

Thanks. 

Mark 

Mark R. Brown 
Newton D. Baker/Baker & Hostetler Chair 
Capital University Law School 

From: Andrew Campbell [andrew@columbusmetrodub.org] 
Sent: Monday, October 08,2018 1:19 PM 
To: Brown, Mark 
Sulqect: RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Heilo Mr. Brown, please find FEC finance reports for "Active" Ohio IS*** Congressional district candidates Steve Stivers and 
Rick Neal. There is no Federal Election Commission finance report for the candidate you have inquired on behalf of, Mr. 
Jonathon Miller. 

Based on our stated criteria, without any FEC campaign finance filing, or record of same, or listing it, would be impossible 
for us to have considered him as a debate participant at any time past or present. 

I look forward to future opportunities to provide equal time to all candidates who meet the minimum qualifications for 
debate participation. 

My kindest regards, 
Andy Campbell 

Steve Stivers FEC election finance report "Active" 2018 
TOTAL RECEIPTS 
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS 
Total Individual contributions 
Itemized individual contributions 
Unitemized individual contributions 
Party committee contributions 
Other committee contributions 
Candidate contributions 
TRANSFERS FROM OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES 
TOTAL LOANS RECEIVED 
Loans made by candidate 
Other loans 
OFFSETS TO OPERATING EXPENDITURES 
OTHER RECEIPTS 

$3,259,497,24 
$3,007,041.38 

$953,622.49 
$942:766.00 

$11,456.49 
$Qm 

$2.053.41.8.89 

$252-455:86 
$0.00 
$0.00 

••$0.00 
$MQ 
$o.0o 

Total spent 
iBfbvvse dfebursemehfel 
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" 10/10/2018 RE; 2018 debate criteria 

Coverage dates: 01/01/2017 to 06/30/2018 
TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS $2,147,599.70 
OPERATING EXPENDITURES .$1,165,999.70 
TRANSFERS TO OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES $20,000.00 
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION REFUNDS $8,100.00 
Individual refunds $1.500.00 
Political party refunds $0.00 
Other committee refunds $6.600:00 
TOTAL LOAN REPAYMENTS $0.00 
Candidate loan repayments moo 
Other loan repayments ! $0.00 
OTHER DISBURSEMENTS $953,500.00 

Rick Neal FEC election finance report "Active" 2018 
TOTAL RECEIPTS $921,910.25 
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS 1 $646,910.25 
Total Individual contributions 

i 
$574,871.48 

Itemized Individual contributions .$463,829,65 
Unltemlzed Individual contributions $111,041.83 
Party committee contributions 1 i .$0.00 
Other committee contributions .$42,897.94 
Candidate contributions .$29,140,83 
TRANSFERS FROM OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES .$0,00 
TOTAL LOANS RECEIVED $275,000.00 

$275.000.00 Loans made by candidate 
$275,000.00 
$275.000.00 

Other loans i mm 
$0.00 OFFSETS TO OPERATING EXPENDITURES 

i mm 
$0.00 

OTHER RECEIPTS .$(LOQ 
Total spent 
iBrovifeedisbursernentsl 
Coverage dates: 07/01/2017 to 06/30/2018 
TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS $418,758.93 
OPERATING EXPENDITURES 1 1 

t .$:409,733.93 
TRANSFERS TO OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES .$MI0 
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION REFUNDS $7,525.00 
Individual refunds $7.525.00 
Political party refunds 1 

1 

1 .$MQ 
Other committee refunds 

1 

] 
1 

! .$0:00 
TOTAL LOAN REPAYMENTS $0.00 
Candidate loan repayments $0.00 
Other loan repayments .$.000 
OTHER DISBURSEMENTS 1 $1,500.00 

From: Andrew Campbell 
Sent: Monday, October 08,2018 12:50 PM 
To: •mbrown@law.capital.edu' <mbrown@law.caoital:edu> 
Subject: 2018 debate criteria 
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- 10/10/201B RE: 2018 debate criteria 

Columbus Metropolitan Club 
General Election Debate Candidate Qualification Criterion 2018 

1. Candidate must be on the ballot as of the date of the Debate AND 

2. Must meet all other minimum criteria under the Campaign Finance Act ("the Act") AND 

a. Must have raised and spent $100,000 in compliance with the Act as reflected in the last filing statement prior 
to the Debate OR 

b. Must have achieved at least S% in any published Poll prior to the Debate, in order to be used in this section 
the poll must: 

i. Have a margin of 4.5% or less 

ii. Include all pf the candidates on the ballot (for the election for which the poll is conducted) at the 
same time the poll is taken. 

if no such poll exists, then section (b) may not be used for Debate eligibility for any candidate and section (a) will 
be used to determine Debate eligibility for all candidates on the ballot for the election for which the Debate is 
being conducted. 

Andrew Campbell. 
Vice President of Programming 
Cbiiimbus Marepolitan G|ub 
100 East Bread Streat, Suite 100 

Columbus, OH 4321S 

614.464.3220 ext 2 cell: 614.886.3793 

Like us! @ 
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10/24/2018 Fwd: Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 

Fwd: Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 
Oliver Hail [oliverbhall@gmail.com] 
Sent:Wednesday, October 24,2018 2:27 PM 
To: Brown, Mark 

Does this count as progress? 
See below. 

Oliver B. Hall 
Special Counsel 
Libertarian National Committee 
617-953-0161 

• Forwarded Message' 
Subject:Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 

Date: Wed, 24 Oct 2018 14:26:47 -0400 

To: Andrew Campbell :<andr^@gbrurnbujitne 

Understood. 
Please advise your attomey of our request for documentation confirming that CMC's criteria existed prior to 
October 8, 2018. 
Thank you, 
Oliver Hall 

Oliver B, Hall 
Special Counsel 
Libertarian National Committee 
617-9S3-0161 

On 10/24/2018 2:20 PM, Andrew Campbell wrote: 

Hi Oliver, counsel advises me to not communicate with you or Mr. Brown further. Thanks in advance for 
your cooperation. 

My kindest regards, 
Andy C 

From: Oliver Hall <6liverbhall@gm-ail.com» 
Sent: Wednesday, October 24,2018 1:16 PM 

Subject: Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 

Thank you for that information. As I mentioned, the questions that we have about CMC's debate 
could be resolved by some record or documentation showing that the criteria you sent on October 8, 
2018 existed before that date. 
You indicated that the criteria was revised in August 2018, that a prior version existed in 2017, and 
that it was based on material that dates back to 2008. Isn't there any written record of the criteria as 
it existed on those prior dates? 
I appreciate that you'd like to move on. The critical issue for us, however, is that CMC hasn't 
produced any record confirming that its criteria existed prior to October 8, 2018. If any such record 
exists, it would help resolve our questions about this matter if you would send it along. 
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' 10/24/2018 Fwd: Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 

Thanks, 
Oliver 

Oliver B. Hall 

Special Counsel 

Libertarian National Committee 

617-9B3-0161 

On 10/24/201812:57 PM, Andrew Campbell wrote: 

Hello Oliver, indeed the doc sent to Brown was created on October 8, content cut and paste 
from program committee agenda material... some of which dates back to 2008. 

It's time to move on. i look forward to working with you in the future with candidates who are 
enpged in their campaign. Thanks! 

AndyC 

CMC Mobile 

On Oct 24, 2018, at 11:08 AM, Oliver Mali <oiiverbhaili!S)gmaii.com> wrote: 

Good Morning Andy, 
I'm following up on my request below because it appears that the document 
you sent outlining CMC's criteria was created on October 8,2018, the date 
on which Mark Brown requested it. Is there any record indicating that the 
criteria existed in 2017, or that it was revised in August 2018? 
Thank you, 
Oliver Hall 

Oliver B. Hall 

Special Counsel 

Libertarian National Committee 

617-953-0161 

On 10/23/2018 10:41 AM, Oliver Hall wrote: 

Good Morning Andy, 
Thanks for the invitation, but I'm not able to attend the forum. 
Is there a record of the 2017 criteria as it then existed, or of the 
criteria when it was revised in August 2018? It would be 
helpful to see a contemporaneous record that was created prior 
to October 2018. 
Thanks, 
Oliver Hall 

Oliver B. Hall 

Special Counsel 

Libertarian National Committee 

617-953-0161 

On 10/22/20181:26 PM, Andrew Campbell wrote: 

m 



10/24/2018 Fwd: Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 

My pleasure and my duty. I remain interested in 
hosting a discussion featuring a Libertarian point of 
view at a future forum. 

In the meantime perhaps you would be my guest at 
this upcoming CMC forum, a discussion of Federal 

versus States rights on October 31^^? 

https-y/gblumbusmffnBElubiwiidabrifcbfJorg/Adm 
eventld=3074285&De"tailsDisDlavMbde=View8iselTab=i 

Kind regards, 
Andy C 

• • . . . • _ . ft . 

From: Oliver Hall <6liverbhall@ettiaii;cbm>.-
Sent: Monday, October 22,2018 1:22 PM 
To: Andrew Campbell 
<andrewfe)columbusmetfoclub.org> 

^ Subject: Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus 
Metropolitan Club 

Thank you. 

Oliver B. Hall 

Special Counsel 

Libertarian National Committee 

617-953-0161 

On 10/22/20181:09 PM, Andrew Campbell wrote: 

The 2018 criteria were carried over from 
2017. The date adopted, actually 
"revised" for 2018, would have been on 

or around Monday August 6*^. 

The dates 15**^ District candidate 
research was conducted was September 
7 through September 20. 

The dates this specific criterion was used 

to qualify, and later invite the 15^*^ 
District candidates, was over the period 
between September 10 through October 
5. 

The date Mr. Brown requested and was 
provided the criteria was October 8. 

The date the 15^^ Congressional debate 
was conducted was Friday, October 19. 
You can view the debate here: 
httDs://<ltfww.voutube:Gom/watch? 
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10/24/2018 Fwd; Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 

v/=9T>G2Rt. 

Kind regards, 
Andy C 

From: Oliver Hali 

Sent: Monday, October 22,201812:51 
PM 
To: Andrew Campbell 
<andrew(g>c6ljjmbijsmetroclub.^ 
Subject: Re: Mark Brown and the 
Columbus Metropolitan Club 

Good Afternoon, 
Thank you for sending the 
information below. I appreciate the 
opportunity to understand CMC's 
process better. 
My specific question, however, is 
whether you have any record of the 
date on which CMC adopted the 

9 criteria you sent, as well as the date 
on which it was applied to determine 
which candidates to invite to the 
October 19th debate? 
If you could please provide that 
information, it would help clear up 
the questions we have on our end. 
Regards, 
Oliver Hall 

Oliver B. Hall 

Special Counsel 

Libertarian National Committee 

617-953-0161 

On 10/22/2018 12:36 PM, Andrew 
Campbell wrote: 

Hello Mr. Hall; let me 
explain our process. CMC 
programming operates 
from a process of inclusion 
as opposed to exclusion. 
We strive to present 
diverse and alternative 
points of view In ail our 
weekly forums. If possible 
I would have welcomed the 
opportunity to include a 
Libertarian candidate In a 
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10/24/2018 Fwd: Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 

forum, candidate debate or 
otherwise... and perhaps 
other opportunities will 
present in the future? 

CMC election season 
programming was 
discussed at the "first 
Friday" June, August and 
September program 
committee meetings. On 
September 7 it was 
decided that CMC should 

pursue a 15*'' 
Congressional District 
debate along with several 
other congressional and 
statewide issues and races. 

At that time, I do the 
following; 

1. Refer to the Ohio 
Secretary of State website 
to review the official ballot 
for each CMC desired 
forum, issue or race. 

2. Specific to the 15^^ 
District, identify all 
candidates on the ballot. 
3. Research the 
candidates, obtain contact 
information and determine 
if we can include them in 
the conversation based on 
our criteria. 
4. Specific to Libertarian 
candidate Johnathon 
Miller; very limited 
information available. His 
website is the sole source 
of reference, where he has 
incorrectly identified U.S. 
Senator Sherrod Brown as 
his congressman. No news 
coverage, no campaign 
appearances, and most 
importantly, no polling or 
campaign finance reporting 
is available. 
5. Based the information 
available, or lack thereof, 
this candidate is not 
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10/24/2018 Fwd; Re; Marie Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 

running an active 
campaign. 
6. No contact Information 
for the candidate is 
available. 
7. Move on to the next 
issue or race. 

Not sure what else to tell 
you. 

Thanks in advance for your 
consideration. 

My kindest regards, 
Andy C 

From: Oliver Hall 
;<Qliverbhall@gmail.com> 
Sent: Monday, October 22, 
201810:57 AM 
To: Andrew Campbell 
•<aridrew^cdiumbusmetrbclub.Qrg> 
Subject: Re: Mark Brown 
and the Columbus 
Metropolitan Club 

Dear Mr. Campbell, 
Thank you for contacting 
me. 
Do you have any record 
of when the Columbus 
Metropolitan Club 
adopted the criteria that 
you sent, as well as the 
date on which it was 
applied to determine 
which candidates to 
invite to the October 
19th debate? 
Regards, 
Oliver Hall 

Oliver B. Hall 

Special Counsel 

Libertarian National Committee 

617-953-0161 

On 10/22/2018 9:50 AM, 
Andrew Campbell wrote: 
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10/24/2018 Fwd: Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 

Dear Mr. Hall, 
for your 
information t 
have attached 
The 
Columbus 
Metropolitan 
Club's 2018 
debate 
qualifications. 
These same 
qualifiers 
where 
provided to 
Mr. Brown in 
writing and 
by email on 
several 
occasions 
well in 
advance of 

our 15*'' 
Congressional 
debate held 
on Friday, 
October 19. 

In the 
correspondence 
that you have 
been 
included, Mr. 
Brown has 
largely 
distorted the 
facts to 
advance his 
belief and 
claim that 
maleficence 
has occurred 
regarding the 
inclusion or 
exclusion of 
the 
Libertarian 
candidate Mr. 
Jonathon 
Miller. Please 
be aware that 
Mr. Miller has 
not filed a 
FEC campaign 
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10/24/2018 Fwd: Re: Mark Brown and the Columbus Metropolitan Club 

finance 
report. 

CMC is a non
profit 
dedicated to 
providing 
public, 
community 
conversations 
and welcome 
alternative 
points of 
view. 

My kindest 
regards, 
Andy C 

Andrew 
1 Campbell 
4 Vice 

President of 
Programming 
Columbus 
MetroDoiitan 
Oub 
100 East Broad 

Street. Suite 100 

Columbus. 

OH 43215 

614.464.3220 axt 2 

cell: 614.886.3793 

Like us! 
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Columbus Metropolitan Club 

General Election Debate Candidate Quallficiatlon Criterion 2018 

1. Candidate must be on the ballot as of the date of the Debate AND 
2. Must meet all other minimum criteria under the Campaign Finance Act ("the Act") AND 

a. Must have raised and spent $100,000 In compliance with the Act as reflected in the last 
filing statement prior to the Debate OR 

b. Must have achieved at least 5% in any published Poll prior to the Debate. In order to be 
used in this section the poll must: 

i. Have a margin of error of 4.5% or less 
ii. Include all of the candidates on.the ballot (for the election for which the poll is 

conducted) at the same time the poll is taken. 

If no such poll exists, then section (b) may not be used for Debate eligibility for any candidate 
and section (a) will be used to determine Debate eligibility for all candidates on the ballot for 
the election for which the Debate is being conducted. 
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